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          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Good afternoon.

          3  My name is Councilman Charles Barron.  I'm Chair of

          4  the Higher Education Committee/CUNY, here at the

          5  City Council, and I'm with one of the most reliable

          6  and productive members of our Committee, a Council

          7  Member from Queens, Tony Avella.

          8                 If you do see Tony leave, it's

          9  because there is another Committee he is on, and he

         10  has to run back and forth.  He always tries to be at

         11  most of the Committee meetings.  So if he departs us

         12  for a moment, it has no reflection of the hearing,

         13  or any of you, or certainly not me.  It just is

         14  other responsibilities.

         15                 Baaba Halm does an excellent job, and

         16  I allow hand claps at my hearings.  So you can give

         17  her a big hand clap.  Owusu also, the Policy

         18  Analyst, giver her a big hand clap, and to  --  Is

         19  this on record?  My Chief- of- Staff is here, Ms.

         20  Viola Plummer.  So please give her a big hand clap,

         21  and write to the Speaker and tell her you met the

         22  Chief- of- Staff.  Also, Joy Simmons (phonetic) is

         23  here who is the point person for our office on CUNY.

         24    So please give her a big hand clap.  And so that

         25  you don't think I only give the black people hand
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          2  claps, please give Tony a hand clap because I forgot

          3  to do that from the beginning.

          4                 Thank all of you for coming.  This is

          5  very  -- Excuse me.  Yes, absolutely.  The Sergeant-

          6  at- Arms, please.  He is one of the most important

          7  people here.

          8                 We're very, very concerned about the

          9  emergency response for CUNY especially in light of

         10  some of the things that have occurred around the

         11  country, and even some natural disasters that can

         12  occur at any moment.  No one can predict that, and

         13  this is National Preparedness Month, September.  So

         14  this is indeed a timely hearing on emergency

         15  management procedures on the college campuses. We

         16  wanted to make sure that we gave that some

         17  attention, some very serious attention so that

         18  something doesn't go down and then we're not

         19  prepared to respond to it and regret that we didn't

         20  think about every little thing that could possibly

         21  happen and what is the best way to respond, and to

         22  see how prepared CUNY is to reach out, communicate

         23  to students and to direct them in the right way in

         24  response to an emergency.

         25                 I just want to put my opening
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          2  statement on the record for the record.  Good

          3  afternoon.  I'd like to thank everyone for coming to

          4  today's hearing.  My name is Charles Barron, and I'm

          5  the Chair of the Higher Education Committee.

          6  Recently security and emergency management planning

          7  at colleges and universities have been thrust into

          8  the national spotlight due to the shooting tragedies

          9  on the campuses of Virginia Tech and Delaware State

         10  University.  These incidents sadden and remind us

         11  that we need to review and ensure that students and

         12  staff are safe on our college campuses and that such

         13  institutions are adequately equipped to respond to

         14  natural or human made emergencies.

         15                 Today's hearing is also timely

         16  because September is National Preparedness Month.

         17  While we never want a natural or human made

         18  emergency to occur on the campuses of our colleges

         19  and universities, if they do occur, we need to be

         20  able to count on our institutions to protect us.

         21                 Colleges and university campuses are

         22  designed as open communities that foster an

         23  environment where optimal learning opportunities can

         24  take place.  Such institutions balance this approach

         25  with the responsibility of ensuring that their
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          2  environments are safe for students, employees and

          3  visitors. Emergency management planning at post-

          4  secondary institutions not require not only the

          5  organization and management of resources, but also

          6  the building to communicate through a variety of

          7  means and necessary and important information to

          8  students as well staff on and off campus in a timely

          9  fashion.

         10                 Today, we will hear about the plans

         11  and systems, public and private, post- secondary

         12  institutions have in place to communicate with and

         13  protect post- secondary students and staff in the

         14  event of an emergency.

         15                 Thank you very much, and we will call

         16  our first witness.

         17                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Vice

         18  Chancellor Garrie Moore, President Edison Jackson,

         19  Vice President Scott Anderson, Howard Apsan, Dina

         20  Maniotis, Seth Cummins.  Please raise your right

         21  hands.  Do you swear that the testimony that you are

         22  about to give will be truthful and accurate?

         23                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: Yes.

         24                 MR. ANDERSON: Yes.

         25                 MR. APSAN: Yes.
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          2                 MS. MANIOTIS: Yes.

          3                 MR. CUMMINS: Yes.

          4                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Please

          5  begin in whatever order you may like.  Introduce

          6  yourself before you give testimony.

          7                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: Thank you.

          8  Chairman Barron and members of your distinguished

          9  Committee, I am Garrie Moore, CUNY's Vice Chancellor

         10  for Student Affairs, and testifying with me today

         11  will be Edison Jackson, President of CUNY's Medgar

         12  Evers College, and former chair of the CUNY

         13  Presidential Public Safety Task Force.  We are

         14  expecting President Jackson to join us momentarily,

         15  Scott Anderson, who is Vice President of

         16  Administration and Planning and Howard Apsan,

         17  University Director, Risk Management and

         18  Environmental Health and Safety.

         19                 I appreciate the opportunity to talk

         20  about CUNY's emergency management procedures

         21  including the plans and mechanisms in place to

         22  ensure emergency communication to faculty and

         23  students.

         24                 This spring's horrific tragedy at

         25  Virginia Tech University reinforced to every higher
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          2  education institution the importance of emergency

          3  preparedness.  Our deepest sympathies are with the

          4  Virginia Tech families who suffered such painful

          5  losses and to that devastated university community.

          6                 Last month's comprehensive internal

          7  and external reports about the April shootings

          8  reveal the very difficult and critically important

          9  questions that administrators, staff and faculty

         10  across the country must address in order to prevent

         11  such catastrophe.

         12                 The safety of our students, faculty

         13  and staff has always been a CUNY priority.  As the

         14  largest urban university in the United States with

         15  more than 450,000 students spread out over 23

         16  schools, it is our responsibility to maintain safety

         17  and security so that our students can concentrate on

         18  learning.  A share of this responsibility falls to

         19  CUNY's Department of Public Safety, which consists

         20  of approximately 1,000 peace officers, campus

         21  security assistants and contract guards.

         22                 At the core of the Department of

         23  Public Safety are sworn New York State Peace

         24  Officers.  Because these officers have police powers

         25  and are authorized to make arrests, we make sure
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          2  that they are very well trained.  Under the New York

          3  State Division of Criminal Justice Services

          4  guidelines, peace officers must receive 53 hours of

          5  training.  At CUNY, we provide our peace officers

          6  with 280 hours of training.  These extra 227 hours

          7  are spent in law enforcement and emergency medical

          8  classes, which include CPR, defibrillator and first

          9  aid training.  Where peace officers are required to

         10  attend four hours of annual in- service training and

         11  re qualification, CUNY officers receive an

         12  additional 12 hours of annual training on police

         13  topics and 16 hours of bi- annual emergency medical

         14  training.

         15                 In addition to our peace officers,

         16  CUNY has a cadre of campus security assistants who

         17  are licensed by the New York State Department of

         18  State as security guards.  They are not granted

         19  special law enforcement powers, but we ensure that

         20  they are also well trained.  Beyond the state-

         21  required eight hour basic training and 16- hours on-

         22  the- job training courses, CUNY provides them with

         23  another 56 hours of training, totaling 80 hours in

         24  all, which includes instructional security in the

         25  college environment and emergency medical training.
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          2  CSA's also attend eight hours of annual in- service

          3  training.

          4                 Our campus safety program has been

          5  effective in its own right, but it is also backed up

          6  by the New York Police Department and the New York

          7  City Fire Department.  Police response to the

          8  campuses is coordinated under a Memorandum of

          9  Understanding between CUNY and the NYPD.  These

         10  protocols are updated bi- annually and provide the

         11  NYPD with detailed emergency contact information for

         12  each campus.

         13                 At CUNY, the college president bears

         14  ultimate responsibility for campus safety.  CUNY's

         15  Department of Pubic Safety meets with the NYPD's top

         16  leadership to discuss system- wide issues, and each

         17  college president recently held similar meetings

         18  with local police commanders to re- invigorate the

         19  relationship between the college and the local

         20  precinct.

         21                 Additionally, we are ensuring that

         22  all of our public safety officers have radios that

         23  can be switched to the NYPD frequency so that they

         24  can listen to local police communications and be

         25  fully apprised of developments in an emergency.
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          2                 Of course, we are always trying to

          3  learn and improve.  Several years ago, CUNY brought

          4  in the Bratton Group, headed by former NYPD Police

          5  Commissioner William Bratton, to conduct a detailed

          6  study of CUNY security operations.  The study

          7  included reviews of both system- wide and campus-

          8  specific policies and procedures and recommended a

          9  number of operational improvements that have been

         10  implemented, such as standardization of equipment

         11  and emergency medical response capabilities.

         12                 Around the same time, CUNY retained

         13  Kroll Inc., a worldwide leader in security and risk

         14  management, to review the University's emergency

         15  management system.  In addition to a site specific

         16  study at Hunter College, Kroll developed a

         17  comprehensive Emergency Procedures Manual for CUNY

         18  and individual Emergency Response Plan templates for

         19  every campus building.  We have implemented Kroll's

         20  framework for managing emergencies on campus,

         21  including the designation of an Emergency Management

         22  Team and primary and secondary Emergency Operations

         23  Centers.  Campuses are also provided with 800 MHz

         24  radios that allow for direct communications during a

         25  crisis.
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          2                 We have learned that preparedness

          3  requires practice. We must continue to expand our

          4  tabletop exercise efforts because whenever we

          5  conduct them, either internally or in conjunction

          6  with other agencies, we find shortcomings that have

          7  to be corrected. And we must continue to drill so

          8  that evacuation procedures and other emergency

          9  actions become ingrained.

         10                 Protecting our students also means

         11  ensuring that those who require professional

         12  attention are getting it, and that the counseling

         13  they receive is both effective and discreet.

         14                 Even before the Virginia Tech

         15  tragedy, the University began increasing its

         16  counseling staff.  In 2006, as part of our ongoing

         17  review of the University's mental health

         18  psychological counseling services, we studied the

         19  staffing patterns of mental health counseling

         20  centers at CUNY campuses.  As a result of the

         21  study's recommendations, we added full- time

         22  counselors in our residence halls at Hunter and City

         23  Colleges.

         24                 A subsequent recommendation by a

         25  group of chief student affairs officers from the
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          2  CUNY campuses lead to the creation of the CUNY

          3  Clinical Psychology Fellowship Program, which places

          4  into campus counseling centers qualified Ph.D.

          5  students from the CUNY Clinical Psychology Program,

          6  which is a highly regarded program that has trained

          7  more minority students than any other clinical

          8  psychology program in the country.  The 12 Fellows

          9  selected this year supplement campus counseling

         10  center staff, increasing the number of clients that

         11  counseling centers are able to assist.  We hope to

         12  expand the fellowship program over the next year by

         13  doubling the number of Fellows.

         14                 In addition, we have appointed a

         15  Clinical Psychology Research Fellow to conduct a

         16  needs assessment of CUNY's overall mental health

         17  psychological counseling services in order to

         18  identify areas that need enhancement or improvement.

         19    And this year, we will make available to students

         20  with acute problems psychiatrists on retainer, in

         21  order to offer expanded assistance, including

         22  prescriptions for medication at no cost to students.

         23                 Chair Barron, I would respectfully

         24  request that the Council consider funding for

         25  additional counseling.  One of the most important
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          2  reasons we asked for $6.4 million dollars from the

          3  Council last year for Student Services was to

          4  bolster our counseling services.  Counselors have

          5  given thousands of our students the tools they need

          6  to manage a broad range of mental health issues,

          7  preventing an escalation of troubling behaviors.

          8  They are critical to the University's ability to

          9  provide for the safety and well- being of all of its

         10  students.

         11                 CUNY's services to students have also

         12  been strengthened by our new medical withdrawal

         13  policy.  The policy, adopted by our Board of

         14  Trustees in June, allows students to withdraw or to

         15  be removed from a college without penalty if their

         16  conduct threatens or disrupts the learning

         17  environment of others because of a mental health or

         18  other medical condition.

         19                 In the past, disciplinary action

         20  would have been initiated for such students.  The

         21  new policy protects troubled students while

         22  providing campuses with a necessary tool to take

         23  action in emergency situations.

         24                 Of course, we cannot control

         25  students' every action, and predicting their
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          2  behavior is an art, not a science.  But we are

          3  committed to implementing and monitoring procedures

          4  and policies that will best protect our campus

          5  communities.

          6                 In addition to our students, CUNY has

          7  some 35,000 employees who are entitled to a safe and

          8  secure workplace.  Because of the legal obligations

          9  and the growing sensitivity to workplace violence

         10  nationwide, CUNY's Office of Faculty and Staff

         11  Relations has distributed a system- wide policy that

         12  was approved by the CUNY Board of Trustees in

         13  November 2006.  This policy puts into place formal

         14  systems to identify hazards and minimize the risks

         15  of workplace violence.

         16                 Although I am proud to share with you

         17  CUNY's ongoing efforts to minimize the potential of

         18  violent incidents, I will be the first to admit that

         19  we are not satisfied.  Chance may favor the prepared

         20  mind, but it offers no guarantees, and that is why

         21  we are implementing the following initiatives

         22  throughout CUNY.

         23                 For starters, we recently distributed

         24  to CUNY's Administrative Council the final report of

         25  the Safe School Initiative, a study conducted
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          2  jointly by the United States Secret Service and the

          3  Department of Education.  The report provides

          4  detailed guidance on identifying characteristics of

          5  troubled students or employees.  The Administrative

          6  Council, comprising the chief administrative

          7  officers of each CUNY campus, will distribute these

          8  guidelines to appropriate personnel at their

          9  campuses and facilitate subsequent training in, and

         10  implementation of, the study's recommendations.

         11                 Our college presidents are called on

         12  daily to make difficult decisions on campus.

         13  Deciding whether to evacuate or lock down a building

         14  in the midst of a crisis is never going to be easy,

         15  and it will surely be second guessed after the

         16  emergency has passed.  In conjunction with the

         17  City's Office of Emergency Management, we have

         18  implemented training in the City- wide Incident

         19  Management System for the directors of security at

         20  the CUNY campuses so that they can better assist

         21  presidents in preparing for and making these

         22  difficult decisions.  CIMS, New York City's program

         23  for responding to emergencies, is part of the

         24  National Incident Management System of domestic

         25  preparedness, and I'm very proud and pleased to have
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          2  representatives here today showing their

          3  collaboration with CUNY.

          4                 Effective communication is at the

          5  heart of incident management.  Without quick, clear

          6  and explicit instructions, a well- organized

          7  response can quickly turn into chaos.  Our public

          8  address systems must cover more than 280 CUNY

          9  buildings, some of which date back to the 19th

         10  century, so they must be thoroughly reviewed.  We

         11  are currently surveying each of our buildings to

         12  assess CUNY's needs.

         13                 In addition, we have accelerated the

         14  introduction of a new technology solution, text

         15  messaging.  The ubiquity of cell phones makes this

         16  an obvious solution.  Even if only a handful of

         17  students in each classroom get an emergency text

         18  message on their cell phones, they will be able to

         19  share the information with others.

         20                 Immediately after the April shootings

         21  at Virginia Tech, the University established a

         22  committee of campus and University IT professionals

         23  to identify a set of requirements for the

         24  implementation of an enterprise emergency

         25  notification system. The committee researched the
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          2  marketplace to identify vendors that have a proven,

          3  highly reliable solution that works within a higher

          4  education setting.  At that time, no government

          5  contract that provided these services, or that

          6  anticipated a client of the size and scope of the

          7  City University of New York existed.  As a result,

          8  the University chose to pursue the competitive bid

          9  process.

         10                 Chair Barron, I'm sure you understand

         11  that since we are currently engaged in a procurement

         12  for an emergency notification solution, I ask that

         13  you allow to omit specific comments regarding that

         14  bid process.

         15                 In the meantime, several CUNY

         16  campuses have begun to implement interim systems to

         17  send text messages to their respective campus

         18  communities.  These interim solutions are currently

         19  available at Baruch College, The College of Staten

         20  Island, Kingsborough Community College and Queens

         21  College.  The data collected and entered into these

         22  systems will eventually be loaded into the

         23  University's selected enterprise system.

         24                 To summarize the University's

         25  requirements for an emergency notifications system,
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          2  we have publicly stated that we are seeking a fully

          3  hosted vendor solution, with highly reliable and

          4  redundant services that are highly secure, easy to

          5  use, web accessible, highly configurable for both

          6  campus and University- wide needs, have 24/7/365

          7  support, and provide self- service registration and

          8  management of user information.  The chosen solution

          9  must also support multiple delivery modes including

         10  e- mail, text message, phone, fax and pager services

         11  and must take into consideration the recipients'

         12  preferred delivery method, including any impairment

         13  that may hinder the receipt of a conventional

         14  message.

         15                 On August 27, 2007, the University

         16  issued a formal Invitation to Bid.  As of September

         17  10, 2007, we were aware of 12 vendors that have

         18  submitted their intention to bid response.  On

         19  September 10, the University held a pre- bidders

         20  conference that provided more detailed information

         21  about the University's expectations and informed the

         22  potential vendor pool of the bid process.  The pre-

         23  bidders conference was not required of vendors

         24  wishing to submit a response to the Invitation to

         25  Bid.  Formal bid responses are due back on October
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          2  24, 2007.

          3                 Thereafter, the University plans to

          4  open and award the bid to the lowest, most

          5  responsive and most responsible bidder. We expect to

          6  begin implementing the data collection and

          7  registration modules immediately after the winning

          8  vendor is announced.  It is our intention to have

          9  the new system in use by our early adopter campuses

         10  by the start of the Spring 2008 semester.

         11                 The legislature has been very

         12  supportive of this effort, introducing Bill No. 7957

         13  to require every public and private college or

         14  university in the State to implement some type of

         15  notification emergency response system.  We would

         16  appreciate any further assistance that you can

         17  offer.

         18                 An informed student body can be our

         19  first line of defense against campus violence if we

         20  provide the proper tools.  In addition to general

         21  campus information, CUNY will now include emergency

         22  information in all orientation packages, and we will

         23  post campus- specific emergency management

         24  information on each college website.

         25                 In closing, let me thank you again
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          2  for the opportunity to testify today about our

          3  emergency management procedures at CUNY.  As I've

          4  said, every time the University administration

          5  discusses our preparedness efforts, which happens

          6  regularly, we find things that could be done better.

          7    I can't promise you that we will be able to

          8  prevent every incident, but I can tell you that we

          9  will be vigilant, well prepared, and committed to

         10  the principle of continuous improvement.  The CUNY

         11  community, and indeed New York itself, is entitled

         12  to nothing less, and I thank you for your support

         13  and for all you do to help CUNY.  Thank you, sir.

         14                 MR. ANDERSON: Good afternoon.  My

         15  name is Scott Anderson.  I'm the Vice President for

         16  Administration at the Borough of Manhattan Community

         17  College.  Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman and honorable

         18  members of the City Council.

         19                 We welcome this opportunity to speak

         20  with you today on emergency management procedures on

         21  college campuses.  BMCC and CUNY take seriously our

         22  collective responsibility to provide all our

         23  citizens in New York City with a safe learning and

         24  working environment on our college campuses.

         25                 In this age of heightened awareness
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          2  of the dangers that natural and manmade disasters

          3  pose to the health and safety of our respective

          4  communities, we have all had to ramp up our

          5  emergency planning efforts.  It has become

          6  critically important that we all expand our universe

          7  and awareness of the many threats that exist in the

          8  larger community because no institution, no

          9  neighborhood, no individual should have to suffer

         10  the consequences of a poorly managed emergency.

         11  This is particularly true and lessons learned exist

         12  already from similar situations.  It is easy for us

         13  to criticize how our college should have handled a

         14  particular emergency, but it would be unconscionable

         15  if we did not incorporate those lessons learned into

         16  our own campus planning.

         17                 Six year ago on 9/11, BMCC became the

         18  first college in America to lose part of its campus

         19  through foreign terrorism. In one afternoon, the

         20  college lost a 15- story building, 70 classroom and

         21  labs when 7 World Trade Center collapsed onto

         22  Fiterman Hall.  Although we evacuated everyone

         23  beforehand safely, BMCC lost nine students and

         24  alumni who were working in the World Trade Center at

         25  the time.  For three weeks, we suspended all school
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          2  operations while we tried to get the college back

          3  into business. During that time, we were creating

          4  temporary classrooms inside and around the main

          5  campus.

          6                 In addition, we were also home to

          7  over 3,000 first responders everyday.  BMCC was used

          8  by more than eight uniformed service agencies from

          9  the City, Stated and armed services.  The College

         10  made its cafeteria, theaters, gym and outdoor

         11  courtyards available to many brave and dedicated

         12  emergency workers.  However, there was no script for

         13  how all of this was supposed to work.  We were very

         14  fortunate because our emergency staff and the first

         15  responder community forged an outstanding

         16  constructive working relationship.

         17                 We learned several important things

         18  from that experience.  It is important that college

         19  campuses form mutual assistance relationships with

         20  neighboring community and first responder agencies

         21  before an emergency arises.  An emergency inventory

         22  should be made of every campus to access the

         23  physical capacity of the facility to function as an

         24  emergency response location or command center.

         25  Campuses should ensure the proper training and
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          2  equipping of campus emergency staff.  Provisions

          3  should be made to store food, water, toiletries and

          4  clothing for essential staff for a three- day

          5  period.  Campuses should involve the facilities

          6  staff in the development of any campus emergency

          7  planning effort.  College campuses should plan to

          8  relocate administrative functions at a remote site.

          9  College campuses should also install critical

         10  telecom, network and administrative applications at

         11  a remote hot site.

         12                 During the emergency, campuses should

         13  ensure that they maintain a web presence of their

         14  institution at another location.  College campuses

         15  should ensure the frequent and accurate

         16  communication of the status to its faculty, staff

         17  and students during any emergency.  College campuses

         18  should make sure that their college is fully engaged

         19  in meaningful dialogue with the City's Office of

         20  Emergency Management and other appropriate agencies.

         21                 We also learned that it's important

         22  to participate in the higher education's

         23  professional organizations and the forums they

         24  create related to emergency planning, risk

         25  assessment and business continuity.  Such
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          2  organizations are, for example, NACUBO, SCUP, URMIA,

          3  IACLEA, AACC, et cetera.

          4                 College campuses must become engaged

          5  immediately in business continuity or recovery

          6  efforts the moment the emergency arises, and

          7  although it's usually not valued highly enough, it

          8  is absolutely important that college campuses pay

          9  attention to the mental and emotional health of

         10  faculty staff, students and especially those

         11  emergency workers working throughout the crisis.

         12                 These items may seem common sense and

         13  they are. However, we learned the value of these

         14  lessons first- hand during 9/11 and their importance

         15  cannot be stressed enough.  Since that time, BMCC

         16  continues to be engaged in emergency management

         17  activities to better prepare our campus and protect

         18  our community.

         19                 On the issue of emergency alert

         20  systems, the College installed a public address

         21  system in our buildings to provide immediate

         22  information and instruction on how to respond to

         23  emergencies, including evacuations and shelter- in-

         24  place options.

         25                 BMCC installed conspicuous emergency
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          2  call boxes, and they have been installed on every

          3  floor of our buildings.

          4                 Last month, we finished the

          5  installation of a perimeter video monitoring system,

          6  and we're actually appealing for additional capital

          7  funds in order to install additional control

          8  devices, cameras, video equipment and bollards

          9  around the campus.

         10                 The College is participating in a

         11  University- wide initiative, which was just

         12  mentioned, with CUNY to require an electronic

         13  notification system for all our faculty, staff and

         14  students.  The system would blast text and voice

         15  messages to registered phones.

         16                 The College received emergency alerts

         17  in New York City through the 800 MHz communications

         18  link, which was also mentioned, that exists between

         19  CUNY and OEM.  All of our campus safety officers are

         20  equipped with radio communications for on- the

         21  ground emergency notification to campus communities.

         22                 BMCC has purchased the equipment and

         23  will join CUNY's initiative to install a fail- over

         24  network at a remote hot site several hundred miles

         25  from New York City.
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          2                 In the Lower Manhattan community,

          3  BMCC is an active partner in the community advisory

          4  committee for Fiterman Hall.  The College has posted

          5  its Emergency Action Plan related to the Fiterman

          6  Hall project on its website.  This comprehensive

          7  plan includes the notification protocols for the

          8  campus and nearby community.

          9                 We also have a relationship and an

         10  understanding with the 1st Precinct that all calls

         11  for assistance will be responded to within three

         12  minutes.

         13                 Because it's on everyone's mind

         14  virtually every day over the last six years, BMCC

         15  also maintains an ongoing contract with an

         16  environmental health testing company because people

         17  want to know about the quality of the air inside the

         18  buildings.

         19                 Our campus Emergency Plan is

         20  frequently updated and is currently being reviewed

         21  to try to accommodate the lessons learned from

         22  Virginia Tech and most recently the last shooting.

         23                 Regarding CERT and emergency training

         24  programs, BMCC currently has 102 fully trained and

         25  equipped FEMA certified employees on staff.  They
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          2  are there to assist the college community and first

          3  responders during any emergency.  Our goal here was

          4  to ensure the College had CERT trained employees on

          5  site at any of our primary location at any time of

          6  the day to assist faculty, staff and students.

          7                 This fall, we hope to begin offering

          8  CERT and National Safety Council CPR and AED

          9  training to interest faculty, staff and students and

         10  extend the training assistance to interested CUNY

         11  public safety departments.

         12                 In addition, BMCC regularly refreshes

         13  the skill sets of its 105 voluntary fire wardens.

         14  Fire wardens and CERT staff receive training in the

         15  use of the College's 18 AED units, perform CPR and

         16  operate the six Evac- Chair units that we have for

         17  bringing down the disabled.

         18                 Regarding mutual assistance, or

         19  MOU's, we continue to update our mutual assistance

         20  with first- responder agencies and community

         21  agencies.  We're about to enter into a new

         22  arrangement with Stuyvesant High School to provide

         23  them with a relocation and mobilization location in

         24  the event of a facility- based emergency.

         25                 The College understands the
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          2  importance of maintaining an ongoing strategic

          3  relationship and communications with OEM, NYPD,

          4  FDNY, City Hall, and, of course, the University.

          5                 With respect to emergency fail- over

          6  power and telecom, BMCC is exploring the

          7  installation and use of ham- radio repeaters and

          8  equipment as a low- tech fail- over for

          9  communications failures.

         10                 In addition, the College has made a

         11  capital request for separate telecom and IT power

         12  support, including the use of wind and solar powered

         13  generators on our roof.  If successful, the College

         14  could provide additional telecom support for

         15  affected first- responder or government agencies.

         16                 Our emergency planning will never be

         17  exhaustive enough because there will always be new

         18  permutations in the kinds of threats that can affect

         19  our campuses.  What is important, however, is that

         20  each and every college and university develop a

         21  culture of campus readiness.  No emergency planning

         22  document will ever be comprehensive enough.  It is

         23  critical that we subject our planning and protocols

         24  to constant review and conduct frequent training

         25  exercise, whether full- scale or tabletop  This is
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          2  not paranoia.  This is our responsibility.  The

          3  health and safety of our students, faculty and staff

          4  deserve no less from us.

          5                 Thank you for your time, this

          6  opportunity to speak with you and for your

          7  commitment to the welfare of the citizens of this

          8  great City.  I might add I know Councilman Barron

          9  that you're also very interested in how the College

         10  handled our most recent emergency, although it's

         11  usually not seen that way, but we treat it that way,

         12  with the respect to the altercation between students

         13  nearby the campus.  I understand NYPD continues its

         14  investigation, but the College is conducting its

         15  own, and depending on the outcome of that, we will

         16  take appropriate action and use all the remedies

         17  available to us within our by- laws.  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

         19  much, and before the next testimony, I want to say

         20  that this is one campus that truly responded to

         21  emergency in the 9/11 situation in Fiterman Hall,

         22  and I think did a great job.  Students have been

         23  under a lot of stress since, jammed in lunch rooms,

         24  and jammed in classrooms. So if you could just give

         25  me a quick update on where is the  --  I know we
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          2  secured the insurance and the FEMA money and some

          3  City money for Fiterman Hall, but just very briefly,

          4  where is that at now in terms of rebuilding the

          5  Fiterman Hall?

          6                 MR. ANDERSON: The funding, I think

          7  we're still approximately $27 million dollars short

          8  of what we need to successfully complete the

          9  building.  The number continues to rise because,

         10  only in Manhattan of course, there exists an

         11  inflation rate of one and half percent a month.  So

         12  every month that goes by, the project becomes that

         13  much more expensive, and that's without doing any

         14  sort of value engineering.

         15                 The critical part right now that we

         16  have to negotiate is receiving the regulatory

         17  approvals.  That's what we're waiting for.  We've

         18  erected a scaffolding.  We're ready to do the

         19  remediation, and our remediation plan is very

         20  different than another building nearby.  It's also

         21  received a lot of attention. Our plan is to

         22  remediate the entire structure and then demolish it

         23  or de- construct it all at one time.  It's a lot

         24  safer all around. We're just waiting for the

         25  regulatory approval.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you.

          3                 MR. APSAN: Council Member Barron,

          4  members of the Higher Education Committee, good

          5  afternoon.  I'm Howard Apsan, University Director of

          6  CUNY's Office of Risk Management and Environmental

          7  Health and Safety, and I appreciate the opportunity

          8  to highlight some of our recent emergency

          9  preparedness and risk management efforts.

         10                 In addition to promoting awareness

         11  and compliance with CUNY's environmental health and

         12  safety obligations, our office is responsible for

         13  coordinating risk management  --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Just hold one

         15  minute.  I'm sorry to interrupt you.  I just want to

         16  get --  President Jackson has arrived, and I just

         17  want to make sure he joins you up there.  Thank you.

         18                 MR. APSAN: In addition to promoting

         19  awareness and compliance with CUNY's environmental

         20  health and safety obligations, our office is

         21  responsible for coordinating risk management

         22  activities throughout CUNY.

         23                 For us, risk management consists of

         24  assessing the hazards that CUNY faces and developing

         25  the tools needed to prevent their occurrence, or
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          2  reduce their effects on our campuses.

          3                 Acknowledging and understanding risk

          4  enables us to prepare for the unexpected and

          5  provides a foundation for dealing with emergencies

          6  in a planned and organized fashion.  To illustrate,

          7  I'd like to share three quick examples of our work.

          8                 First, CUNY has made significant

          9  progress in addressing environmental risk.  In

         10  response to EPA's focus on colleges and universities

         11  over the past five years, CUNY has established a

         12  comprehensive audit program for all of its campuses.

         13  Through this process, we have seen the number of

         14  environmental compliance concerns decline

         15  consistently, and we have been able to avoid

         16  substantial fines and penalties.

         17                 Second, although we hope never to

         18  find out, an avian influenza pandemic would pose

         19  dramatic health and business continuity risks to

         20  most institutions in New York.  To prepare, CUNY has

         21  collaborated with other universities and with the

         22  New York City Health Department to develop detailed

         23  plans that were shared throughout the CUNY

         24  community.  Preparedness will not prevent a bird flu

         25  outbreak, but it might limit its impact.
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          2                 Third, even though we're in the midst

          3  of this year's hurricane season, most New Yorkers

          4  tend to think that hurricanes and tropical storms

          5  happen elsewhere, and that is generally, but not

          6  always, correct.  A major coastal storm could

          7  severely impact the City's low- lying waterfront

          8  neighborhoods, as well as several of our campuses.

          9  New York's Office of Emergency Management serves as

         10  the lead agency, but CUNY will be integral in both

         11  sheltering and training.  Eleven of our campuses are

         12  designated as emergency evacuation hubs, and since

         13  April, more than 12,500  --  and I'm told that we

         14  have another 3,500 or so in the pipeline or recently

         15  finished so that will bring the total to 16,000  --

         16  emergency volunteers have been trained by CUNY.

         17                 In closing, risk management and

         18  emergency preparedness for a system as large as CUNY

         19  is often daunting.  It's hard to open a newspaper or

         20  listen to the radio without thinking about new

         21  threats that must be tamed.  The good news though is

         22  that we don't have to go it alone.  We have

         23  established the CUNY Risk Management Council with

         24  representation from each college campus in every

         25  CUNY division.  We work with our counterparts in
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          2  government agencies, other universities and private

          3  industry.  It goes without saying, we're very

          4  pleased by the attention that this City Council

          5  Higher Education Committee hearing brings to the

          6  issue.  Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

          8  much.  I also want to just acknowledge that the hard

          9  working Council Member from Manhattan is here,

         10  Council Member Gale Brewer.  We always thank her for

         11  her continued commitment to CUNY.  Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 MR. CUMMINS: Thank you very much,

         14  Council Member Barron and Council Member Brewer and

         15  your staff for having us here today.  My name is

         16  Seth Cummins.  I'm the Chief of Staff at New York

         17  City OEM, and I'm here with Dina Maniotis who is the

         18  Director of our Human Services Division.

         19                 As you heard from my colleagues at

         20  CUNY, OEM works directly with CUNY and also with

         21  very many private universities in the region at

         22  various levels on a daily basis.  We share timely

         23  and accurate information that we get from our 24/7

         24  watch command communication center so that they know

         25  what to do when something is necessary regardless of
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          2  the level of the incident.

          3                 For planned events and for unplanned

          4  emergencies, CUNY occupies a seat in the City's

          5  Emergency Operation Center because they have so many

          6  campuses that affect so many tens of thousands of

          7  people around the City.

          8                 In addition, as you heard briefly

          9  just now and as Ms. Maniotis will tell you, the City

         10  of New York is always learning a lesson of what goes

         11  on around the country, and, in particular, the

         12  experience in New Orleans with Hurricane Katrina.

         13  In the last several years, we have totally rebuilt

         14  our coastal storm preparedness program.  Enough

         15  cannot be said about the efforts and the thought and

         16  the labor that has gone into it from CUNY and their

         17  School of Professional Studies.  Not only do they

         18  participate in an operations level by being

         19  evacuation centers and shelters, but they help us,

         20  they prepare a comprehensive education program to

         21  train the tens of thousands of staff of City

         22  employees who will have to be called upon to staff

         23  those evacuation areas and shelters should an event

         24  occur.

         25                 We do many things with a consortium
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          2  of private universities in New York City that

          3  includes virtually every school in the City and in

          4  the surrounding areas.  We meet regularly with them

          5  and talk about special topics be it avian flu or

          6  coastal storm preparedness.  Mention has been given

          7  to the city- wide incident management system.  CUNY

          8  is a major partner agency and has been very

          9  supportive of that.  CIMS is built upon the national

         10  model and the incident management system or ICS

         11  training is FEMA- mandated and we are working with

         12  CUNY to make sure that all of their safety personnel

         13  and their senior managers are fully aware of how

         14  command would take forth and how the City would

         15  respond to a major incident.

         16                 We include them in many of our

         17  exercises.  We've developed, for the schools and for

         18  the private sector, a template that we call Tabletop

         19  101.  As you heard earlier, CUNY is very active in

         20  doing Tabletops for staff at various levels.

         21                 Their Safety Office participates with

         22  our Watch Command on an 800 MHz radio network so

         23  that if an extreme alert happened we would be in

         24  direct contact with them 24/7 even if there were a

         25  power outage.
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          2                 On other levels, you mentioned the

          3  CERT program. BMCC is a model of universities

          4  bringing together students and faculty and

          5  neighborhood residents.  We've been basically using

          6  them as a great example.  We hope that they expand

          7  within the system, and we're hoping that private

          8  universities in New York City take us up on that

          9  offer.

         10                 Lastly, preparedness.  As you know,

         11  the Council has been very supportive of our Ready

         12  New York program.  We've given presentations around

         13  the City.  We've given presentations at private

         14  colleges and at CUNY branches throughout the City,

         15  and we will continue to do that because prepared

         16  employees have prepared families at home and they'll

         17  know what to do in any type of an incident.

         18                 Perhaps Ms. Maniotis can just give

         19  you a brief summary of some of the things that have

         20  been happening with respect to the coastal storm

         21  preparations.

         22                 MS. MANIOTIS: Good afternoon Chairman

         23  Barron and members of the Committee.  I have been

         24  very fortunate, and my team and I, Human Services

         25  team of OEM, have worked very closely for the past
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          2  year with a group of highly professional individuals

          3  from CUNY from the School of Professional Studies

          4  who we met over practically every week since the end

          5  of December to develop a comprehensive curriculum

          6  that will train all of the individuals that we will

          7  need to run our sheltering system in the event of a

          8  coastal storm activation.

          9                 CUNY developed, and has trained  --

         10  At this time, we've completed the training of all of

         11  the individuals that will be required to manage the

         12  entire sheltering system.  So all of the top level

         13  staffing have been trained.  In addition to that, we

         14  have trained close to 14,000 specialists who will be

         15  at the level of supervisory and assistant managers

         16  to the folks that will be running the operations.

         17                 The courses that have been developed

         18  by CUNY, in collaboration with OEM, are an intensive

         19  training for operators, which is a full- day course,

         20  and gives everybody hands on experience in operating

         21  an evacuation center or hurricane shelter.

         22                 In addition to that, CUNY developed a

         23  web- based course for all of its specialists.  It's

         24  an interactive course.  It takes about two hours,

         25  and it easily accessible from any web- based
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          2  connection, which is either in the City or at home,

          3  folks have access to the system.

          4                 In addition to that, CUNY has

          5  developed five Just in Time trainings, a total of

          6  about six hours worth of training which will be

          7  given and delivered to the individual staffing the

          8  shelters at the time of the event.  Hence the name,

          9  Just in Time.

         10                 In addition to that, we have worked

         11  very closely with CUNY.  Several of their facilities

         12  will be our special medical needs facilities in an

         13  evacuation and a coastal storm activation. We've

         14  worked closely to identify and layout the plans and

         15  work with their security folks to make sure that the

         16  facilities are appropriate for our needs.

         17                 In addition to that, we have worked

         18  very closely with them.  OEM has developed a

         19  technology tool called which has several

         20  applications including a staff activation and

         21  deployment notification system as well as a shelter

         22  tracking system.  All of this technology requires

         23  the capability at the local level, at the

         24  facilities, and we have been working very closely

         25  with CUNY right now to make that the hardware is
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          2  there and access to our web- based technology tool

          3  is available.  We've been very fortunate everything

          4  has been working very well.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you.

          7                 DR. JACKSON: Mr. Chairman and members

          8  of this distinguished Committee, it's indeed an

          9  honor and a privilege for me to share with you a

         10  campus perspective.  I am also delighted to say that

         11  roughly a decade ago I chaired a task force to

         12  examine the appropriateness of changing from what we

         13  call rental guards to a professional security force.

         14    The recommendations that came out of that

         15  committee, one was to move from the rental guards to

         16  a professional security force.  It was prophetic in

         17  the sense that -  One, it was a good decision.  Two,

         18  we didn't know that the conditions would deteriorate

         19  in our society in the way that they have, and so we

         20  are in a position to respond more appropriately to

         21  the challenges that we face in higher education.

         22                 I had prepared a written statement,

         23  but I'm going to talk a little bit about what we do

         24  on our campus.  As a result of the leadership of the

         25  Central Office providing additional resources and to
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          2  heighten our own awareness of what we ought to do in

          3  case there are challenges, tragedies on our campus,

          4  to that end we have acquired additional security

          5  cameras.  We have established a task force on

          6  emergency preparedness.  We have increased what we

          7  call red phones around the campus so a person can

          8  communicate and call when there is an incident that

          9  is taking place.  We have hired additional officers

         10  on campus and required additional training to deal

         11  with how you de- escalate disputes.

         12                 We have moved at Medgar to a point

         13  that every freshman student now is required to go

         14  through the techniques of how you resolve and

         15  mediate dispute because part of our challenge is how

         16  do you de- escalate disagreements.  So while there

         17  may be external threats in terms of terrorism

         18  attacks, et cetera, we feel that we have a

         19  responsibility to help our students to learn how to

         20  mediate dispute and not allow them to rise to a

         21  point where disruption and destruction take place.

         22                 One of the challenges I think that

         23  many of us have on our campuses is the notion of

         24  domestic violence.  Although there are some kinds of

         25  protection or orders of protection somehow none of

                                                            43

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  that doesn't protect.  So we have to be much more

          3  sensitive to those kinds of issues to make that what

          4  is outside, external, does not come internal to the

          5  institution and disrupt that institution.

          6                 Another area that is increasingly a

          7  challenge for us is those individuals who come to

          8  our institutions as students who have and are

          9  experiencing some mental challenge.  Any day, if a

         10  person gets off his medication, that could be a

         11  problem.  So what we've been trying to do with our

         12  faculty is to help to educate them as to how to

         13  identify such potential students who might be off

         14  their medication, off the wall, if you will.

         15                 To that end also we have hired two

         16  additional psychologist so that faculty members and

         17  other members of the academic community feel

         18  comfortable in referring those students to those

         19  individuals who are qualified to assist them.

         20                 It is part of a larger plan for us in

         21  terms of the education of the members of our

         22  academic community so that they become our eyes and

         23  ears and begin to alert the security force and the

         24  Vice President, Student Affairs and others on the

         25  campus, as to what may be a potential explosive
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          2  situation that is developing.

          3                 Security is a high priority in our

          4  institution. We're trying to change how we do

          5  business.  I am in the process of developing a

          6  campus emergency protocol handbook so that everybody

          7  understands what it is.  We're distributing that to

          8  our entire academic community so that everyone

          9  becomes another eye, another force, another catalyst

         10  for helping to resolve and to mediate dispute.

         11                 Medgar has been designated, as what

         12  we've heard here this morning, as a site when there

         13  is an external challenge, terrorists or anything

         14  similar to that.  People will gather at Medgar Evers

         15  College, and so to that end we are having what we

         16  call drills.  Everybody is not happy about it, but I

         17  think an ounce  -- What is that?  It's worth a pound

         18  of cure.  That's it.  Prevention is what we're

         19  trying to do.

         20                 I don't even suggest that we have

         21  accomplished all that perhaps one can accomplish,

         22  but we have done what I consider due diligence.

         23                 Now Virginia Tech's situation, the

         24  Delaware State University situation, those are

         25  issues that can occur.  The question is what is
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          2  going to be our response.  So most of our efforts

          3  have been on the prevention side, the education

          4  side, and at some point over a period of time,

          5  Medgar, through its freshman year program, would

          6  have educated and touched the lives of a thousand

          7  students a year in terms of mediation, how you

          8  mediate conflict.  Hopefully, those skills will not

          9  only be transferrable in terms of their life

         10  situations at home as they are going to and from in

         11  terms of our community.  So that at some point

         12  Medgar will have a cadre of people who can go out

         13  and become the trainer for other folks who don't

         14  understand how to mediate and de- escalate conflict.

         15                 Our sense is that the real danger, I

         16  see, for us is the internal danger, and that is how

         17  do you help people become more self- reliant and

         18  able to deal with conflict in a way that is

         19  constructive rather than destructive.  That is, in

         20  addition to all the other kinds of work that we have

         21  done in terms of structures and locations and

         22  educating, acquiring additional equipment,

         23  increasing our security force, I am concerned about

         24  how do change a mindset.  That's what we are trying

         25  to do at Medgar.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Well thank you

          3  very much.  I want to thank all of you for the

          4  information that you've given. The reason, in

          5  addition to this being National Preparedness Month,

          6  is that the stress for living in New York City has

          7  increased tremendously whether it's the debt that

          8  you're going to be in after you graduate or trying

          9  to get an affordable house  --  They shouldn't even

         10  put those two words together.  That certainly is an

         11  oxymoron.  Racism is alive and all too well in New

         12  York City.  This is a tremendous amount of stress

         13  whether it is domestic terrorism with the police

         14  department or there is terrorism from abroad.  It's

         15  just students are under a tremendous amount of

         16  stress.  I'm not going to say me.  When Dr. Jackson

         17  was young, if you get out of school, you could get a

         18  house for $30,000, $40,000 dollars and be all right.

         19    Now you can't even get a shell for $500,000

         20  dollars. So I think students are under a tremendous

         21  amount of stress.

         22                 We've heard good things from BMCC in

         23  the response and good things from Medgar and some of

         24  the information they have. Is there a centralized

         25  CUNY response, before I get to prevention, an actual
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          2  response?  What does every CUNY campus know to do

          3  lets say  --  God forbid  --  there's a shooter on

          4  the campus?  What would be the first thing once the

          5  proper authorities found that out?  What would be

          6  the first thing that would happen on every CUNY

          7  campus if, in fact, that did happen?  What would be

          8  some of the first things?

          9                 I heard things about sending the text

         10  messages to students and stuff like that.  There was

         11  a breakdown in that in Virginia Tech trying to get

         12  the text messages out, if they did.  I don't know

         13  whether they identified it as a campus- wide

         14  emergency, or whether it was an emergency isolated

         15  in a particular area and they just wanted to get

         16  those students out.

         17                 CUNY is different in that we're

         18  talking about New York City and campuses all over

         19  the place.  So is there some kind of unified

         20  response for such an emergency like that?

         21                 MR. APSAN: Mr. Chairman, I think that

         22  the response will generally be dictated by the type

         23  of physical facility that the situation arises in.

         24  I think that one of the most unique things about

         25  this University is that with all of the near 300
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          2  buildings that we have every property we have is on

          3  a computerized database.  One of the things that

          4  would happen automatically, and I think our

          5  University Director of Security is here as well as a

          6  representative from DDCM, Design and Construction.

          7  What they done is made available to the NYPD access

          8  to our files or blueprints, and one thing that will

          9  not happen at a CUNY college is that any first

         10  responder or agency that needed to know exactly how

         11  to separate a bad guy, as it were, from students,

         12  faculty and staff, they will know how to do that.

         13  They will be familiar with the infrastructure of

         14  each and every one of our buildings.

         15                 So apart from the notification that

         16  will go down when we do the alert broadcasts

         17  electronically, many of us are also trying now  --

         18  and it's expensive  --  to create the old- fashioned

         19  public address systems in our schools because most

         20  of us do not have them.  That's the fastest way to

         21  ever get word out, but I think that NYPD and OEM

         22  will find that the University is now working

         23  together to make sure that everyone is on the same

         24  page and knows how to help us.  That, by the way, is

         25  a new thing.  Higher ed campuses have been open
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          2  targets for many years.  It's only recently that

          3  we've had the good fortune through many tragedies of

          4  having a greater partnership with the OEM's of the

          5  country, certainly not New York City.  New York City

          6  OEM's office has been with us all along.

          7                 I hope that addresses your question.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Are you saying

          9  that because they're here, or do you say that  --

         10                 MR. APSAN: No, actually they've done

         11  some very good things that I think they are not

         12  recognized for actually.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: How often do you

         14  meet?  How often does OEM meet with CUNY schools?

         15                 MR. CUMMINS: It depends on the topic.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: How about

         17  emergency?

         18                 MR. CUMMINS: When we rolled out CIMS

         19  several years ago, obviously that was a very an

         20  intensive time of meeting City agencies and

         21  partnering agencies.  On Fiterman Hall, we've worked

         22  very directly with them for the Downtown areas.

         23  When we issue new directives or advisories through

         24  our partners, they are involved.

         25                 We're very lucky in that their
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          2  Central Office acts as the conduit for most of the

          3  colleges and the junior colleges in the City system,

          4  but when we do a University consortium event where

          5  we are going to do a special lecture or focus on

          6  something we sent out a blast e- mail and the

          7  schools that can send someone who has the specialty

          8  that we're discussing will come.  Often there will

          9  be a central CUNY rep and the private colleges come.

         10    We do things with NYU.  We do things with Hunter.

         11  We do things with Columbia SEPA, schools that have a

         12  focus on some of the issues and that work with us.

         13  A lot of it is, that we haven't touched upon today,

         14  that we get great internships.  Hunter is known as

         15  the GIS capital of academia.  We have done

         16  communications projects with NYU, with Columbia

         17  SEPA.  We've done things with Queens College.  So we

         18  try to be active.  Commissioner Bruno has something

         19  he calls Real Projects for Real People.  When we put

         20  out an APB for interns, it isn't like we want

         21  someone to just come in and sit at a desk and do

         22  paperwork.  It's a well- defined job task that is

         23  the same thing that you would do with a consulting

         24  agency.  They come in and they help us and we get an

         25  answer to a problem.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I assume that

          3  there are meetings with central CUNY on the overall

          4  question of natural disasters or violence response

          5  and just checking out their system and making sure

          6  that everything is connected and coincides with the

          7  kind of preparedness that  --

          8                 MR. CUMMINS: Just as an example,

          9  Commissioner Bruno was at Medgar Evers last year.

         10  We did a Ready New York Fair, and we brought in a

         11  whole consortium of City agencies and non- profits.

         12  We worked with their various professors and it was a

         13  whole curriculum during an entire day on a weekend.

         14  It worked out very, very good, and we had people

         15  present with their professors on various panels.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Do you feel CUNY

         17  is prepared? You know we never thought a tornado

         18  would come to Brooklyn, but it did touch down in

         19  Brooklyn.  Do you feel CUNY is prepared for a

         20  tornado or a flood?  I know in the East New York

         21  area they told me if I have a flood to go to Thomas

         22  Jefferson High School.  I have a little concern

         23  about that because it's very close to my home.  So

         24  if I'm flooded, they'll probably be flooded too.

         25                 MR. CUMMINS: I am not the compendium
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          2  of all knowledge with respect to their preparedness,

          3  but I can tell you I do know what they've been doing

          4  with respect to our coastal storms.

          5                 By the way, the sheltering system

          6  that we refer to as supporting the coastal storm

          7  plan is a shelter system that's there 365 days a

          8  year.  If there is a need to move a significant

          9  number of people at of one area and into another for

         10  a time period that will require them to be sheltered

         11  and kept safe and warm and to be given water and

         12  food, the shelter system will be it.  There is no

         13  entity that is playing a larger role right now then

         14  CUNY.  I mean obviously the Department of Education

         15  has hundreds of schools. There's 511 sites.  So

         16  CUNY, because it has so many larger sites, is

         17  playing a role with respect to some of the larger

         18  locations which will be evacuation centers where

         19  people will both shelter and be sent to other

         20  satellite shelters out of the evacuation center.

         21  Their knowledge of how the process works through the

         22  creation and through the conduct of a schooling

         23  system, both on- line and in person for the senior

         24  managers, puts them well ahead of the curve of any

         25  probably state university or city system in the
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          2  country.  I mean they've helped us plan it.  From

          3  ground one, they've been our co- consultant.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Is there enough

          5  resources? Let's say that   --  God forbid  --  a

          6  flood did come and homes were no longer habitable.

          7  You know we had a nightmare with FEMA and the Red

          8  Cross when it came to Katrina and New Orleans, and

          9  even some of the  --  And I want to commend CUNY

         10  because CUNY did support a lot of the survivors of

         11  Katrina who came to New York. CUNY was very, very

         12  supportive in trying to find places for them and

         13  providing education for many of those students who

         14  couldn't get back home to be educated.  So I want to

         15  commend CUNY for that.

         16                 We had a horrific relationship with

         17  FEMA and Red Cross.  You know when it comes to after

         18  the emergency, and a school is destroyed or homes

         19  are destroyed, how prepared do you feel we are for

         20  that phase of the emergency?

         21                 MR. CUMMINS: Again, I may not be the

         22  spokesperson of the details of recovery to a

         23  catastrophic event.  I know that OEM is putting a

         24  lot of energy in working with FEMA, in working with

         25  the Army Corps of Engineers on modeling so we can
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          2  understand the type and the level of resources that

          3  will be needed to recover.

          4                 I can tell you, and Ms. Maniotis can

          5  add if you would like some additional information,

          6  while they are not at Katrina level, we've had

          7  recent incidents in New York City that have brought

          8  about declarations of emergency and a grant of

          9  individual assistance with respect to the tornado

         10  recently for areas of Queens and Brooklyn.

         11                 FEMA is continuing to learn its

         12  lesson, and they've been very responsive in setting

         13  up Disaster Assistance Centers in various boroughs

         14  in Williamsburg, in Queens, and, I believe, in Bay

         15  Ridge.  They're a work in progress, I'm sure, and

         16  I'm not an expert on that, but with respect to an

         17  ability to immediately give shelter to people in New

         18  York City, because we have CUNY, we are far better

         19  prepared than we were several years ago.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I'm also

         21  concerned about, in addition to using CUNY as a

         22  resource, but how does CUNY deal with an emergency

         23  on their campus when it may not be the resource that

         24  we could use?  How prepared is CUNY?  It might not

         25  be able to be used as a resource.  It might be the
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          2  emergency itself.

          3                 MR. CUMMINS: I'm sure that they work

          4  very closely with the Police Department in every

          5  borough, and I know that they have emergency action

          6  plans for every location.  I don't whether it's the

          7  platinum or the gold standard, but I'll let them

          8  talk a little more on that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Well I just hope

         10  it's gold.

         11                 MR. APSAN: I'm not sure if it's

         12  platinum or gold, but certainly it exists and that's

         13  the way we prepare because it's impossible for us to

         14  know exactly what kind of incident is going to come

         15  up next.  So what we do is we learn from existing

         16  and previous incidents.

         17                 For example, anytime something

         18  happens, and that would be even on a smaller scale

         19  incident like a blackout.  We had a blackout not so

         20  long ago that impacted two of our facilities.  So we

         21  immediately have a post- mortem of the incident, and

         22  we go and check and see what happened well and what

         23  didn't happen as well as it should have, and we try

         24  to fix it and prepare to do it better the next time.

         25                 We also share this with all of our
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          2  campuses.  So in that instance, the one campus that

          3  was impacted was Hostos Community College.  Just

          4  because it happened to them in this particular

          5  blackout doesn't mean that everybody else shouldn't

          6  learn the same lesson.

          7                 That's pretty much how we respond in

          8  each incident and hopefully the collective

          9  information helps us go forward.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Did CUNY

         11  collectively  --  and I'll Gale ask a question after

         12  this  --  How did CUNY collectively respond to BMCC

         13  when they had their emergency?  I know some students

         14  had to go to City College.  Did that work?  Is there

         15  something better that could have been done to

         16  alleviate some of the stress of the students there

         17  in terms of facilities and counseling and the

         18  facilitation of the building of Fiterman Hall or

         19  anything else?  How was the CUNY- wide response?

         20                 MR. ANDERSON: Councilman, I'm going

         21  to answer that from BMCC's perspective because we

         22  were on the receiving end.

         23                 If you imagine losing 360,000 square

         24  feet which represents one- third of your

         25  instructional capacity in one afternoon, there are
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          2  very few things that could be as traumatic for a

          3  college.

          4                 We were closed for three weeks.

          5  During those three weeks, we were able to reassemble

          6  or otherwise build the equivalent of 40 classrooms

          7  of the 70 that we lost.  We did that through a

          8  variety of methods, but we would not have been able

          9  to do that without the City University's marshalling

         10  of its Design and Construction team.  We did not

         11  have the capacity to do that.  We were in the red

         12  zone so there were no telecom options open to us.

         13  The University made available its architects, its

         14  considerable buying power to move trailers and other

         15  material into the area.  We would not have been able

         16  to reopen on October 1st.

         17                 There are other aspects to it that

         18  people do not really appreciate and that is that it

         19  was one thing to just get classrooms, but it was

         20  another thing to get furniture for those classrooms.

         21    We were able to do that through the University by

         22  using  --  They used their influence on the web to

         23  solicit help for us.  We were totally incommunicado

         24  on Lower Manhattan, as you can well imagine.  It was

         25  horrific, but no college, no university, can sustain
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          2  life as they ever knew it on their own.  It has to

          3  be done in an orchestrated way.  It has to be done

          4  from within a university system.  Once the damage

          5  has happened, whether it's telecom, or it's a crime,

          6  you do need to have everyone's involvement, and we

          7  were very fortunate.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: This is the last

          9  question.  Do the campuses do any periodic testing?

         10  How do they train the campus employees, especially

         11  those who have been there a year or more on

         12  emergency crisis management?  Is there any periodic

         13  testing?

         14                 When I was in elementary school we

         15  used to do fire drills  --  hated them, but we had

         16  to go.  I think I heard Dr. Jackson mention

         17  something about drills.  Are there any simulated

         18  tests or emergency simulations that go forth?  Do

         19  you test your communications system and things of

         20  that nature on the campuses?

         21                 MR. APSAN: Yes, we do.  We have

         22  drills, as we heard, on all of our campuses.  We

         23  have regular drills, and we test all of our

         24  equipment, and we test our emergency procedures.

         25                 We also do occasional exercises.  For
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          2  example, not so long ago we did a full- scale

          3  exercise with the Fire Department at College of

          4  Staten Island where we simulated a fire in our

          5  science building where there were chemicals involved

          6  and where the nature of the event spread and

          7  expanded.  So we do drills of that nature that are a

          8  little more expansive than the standard fire drill

          9  just so we see where our shortcomings are and how we

         10  can work better with other agencies and hopefully

         11  prevent something serious from happening.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: All right.

         13  Council Member Brewer.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I grew up in

         15  the 1950's.  I spent my whole life under the desk.

         16                 My question is more on the

         17  technology, and I think CUNY is definitely a leader.

         18    I have, on the West Side, John Jay, very

         19  fortunately, and so I know they've done a lot of

         20  leadership activities on this issue.  I do try to

         21  support them with capital money for as much

         22  redundancy as possible for the telecom.

         23                 I'm just wondering, CUNY- wide,

         24  obviously you do have to be careful in what you

         25  state, but generally how are you advancing in terms
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          2  of the redundancy?  I know that this is something

          3  that you aspire to, but, of course, it costs money,

          4  and there are resources involved.  How can you work

          5  with DOITT on this? How can you work with OEM?  How

          6  are you collaborating as campuses on the redundancy

          7  issue?

          8                 MR. APSAN: Redundancy is something

          9  that we try to do because people's lives are at

         10  stake and we want to make sure that we do everything

         11  we can to make our campuses as safe as possible. You

         12  heard Vice Chancellor Moore's testimony on bid

         13  process.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Yes, it was

         15  very helpful.

         16                 MR. APSAN: So that's really  --

         17  We're looking to set- up a communications system, or

         18  an emergency notification system that will maximize

         19  the insurance that people will know what's going on,

         20  will get proper instruction, and if they don't get

         21  it through one mode, they'll get it through another

         22  mode.  We just want to make sure that people know

         23  what's going on.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: But I know

         25  John Jay is doing the same.  Was this all
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          2  coordinated because John Jay is also doing a

          3  redundancy system?  Is that part of the same effort?

          4                 MR. APSAN: We have four campuses that

          5  currently have emergency notification systems.  What

          6  we're trying to do is set one standard for all of

          7  CUNY, and make sure, first of all, it's good for us

          8  because we get economies of scale that way, and

          9  second of all, because this way we make sure that we

         10  have one standard that we can monitor and test and

         11  make sure that we have a uniform safety system.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  Then

         13  just in terms of the whole  --  We just met with the

         14  MTA on their notion of text messaging.  We certainly

         15  had hearings on it in the Technology Committee.

         16  That depends on whether it's possible to utilize.

         17  It's not the end all, be all.  How are you able, or

         18  thinking about, notifying campus individuals?  I

         19  know certainly you have wireless throughout all of

         20  your campuses pretty much, but how are you thinking

         21  about notifying folks who are on campus?

         22                 MR. APSAN: That was one of the issues

         23  that came up in both of the Virginia Tech reports,

         24  address that specific question, and in fact, both of

         25  them suggested that there might have been some
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          2  shortcomings because we want to make sure that if

          3  we're sending something out by e- mail that people

          4  are reading their e mail's or have access to their

          5  computer.  So that's an insufficient mode.  So we're

          6  doing voicemail.  We're doing text messaging. We're

          7  taking advantage of all the different modes of

          8  communication because we know that if we do in

          9  enough different modes, enough people in a classroom

         10  will know what is going on.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: What you're

         12  saying is that's like what will be implemented soon,

         13  this kind of apparatus.

         14                 MR. APSAN: We're going through the

         15  bid process now, and we're hoping to get it squared

         16  away as soon as possible.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: The other

         18  place that this is going on is obviously in the

         19  hospitals and in the community health centers.  With

         20  my colleagues, we put together a lot of money for

         21  the community health centers.  Obviously, electronic

         22  health records is part of the electronic, telecom

         23  operation, but in addition, when there is an

         24  emergency in a neighborhood, a lot of people go to

         25  their community health center and in the past, they
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          2  have not been prepared because they didn't have

          3  redundancy and they didn't have training.  So

          4  actually there's a lot of money now going into that

          5  effort.  Are you coordinating  --  I mean maybe this

          6  is an OEM question, but are you coordinating?

          7  Because there is training going on in your community

          8  health centers and in your hospitals as to what to

          9  do.  I'm just saying it might be part of the same

         10  discussion and things could be piggyback on each

         11  other.  It's an idea.

         12                 MR. CUMMINS: At OEM, I don't know

         13  that we've been involved with any specific health

         14  care facility.  We obviously work closely with a

         15  whole consortium of both not- for- profit community

         16  organizations as well as the Greater New York

         17  Hospital Association and its individual members.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: No, I'm just

         19  saying that it might be something to think about

         20  because your campuses are often near not just

         21  hospitals, but also community health centers, and

         22  there are millions of dollars right now going into

         23  both redundancy and training.  In fact, I've gone to

         24  ten or 15 training sessions, and sometimes you'll

         25  have 100, 150 people.  We have a lot of community
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          2  health centers.  We have a lot of hospitals, and

          3  people need to be trained because people change jobs

          4  and so on.  So it's an on- going process, and it's

          5  an idea because this same concept is there.  If you

          6  need redundancy for a community health center, there

          7  has to be another place to go and the staff has to

          8  be appropriately trained.  Something to think about.

          9                 MR. CUMMINS: It's a very good idea.

         10  I can't say that we coordinate, but we did meet with

         11  Health and Hospitals Corporation and I spoke to

         12  their Environmental Health and Safety Coordinator

         13  about their efforts.  You're absolutely right.  They

         14  have some unique difficulties that they have to

         15  address because they have patients that are immobile

         16  and that they have to take care of first and

         17  foremost.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: But even

         19  things like their records.  You know there are some

         20  similarities that could be looked at.  Okay.  Thank

         21  you.

         22                 MR. CUMMINS: We are.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right.

         24  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very
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          2  much, and I thank the panel.  I just want to mention

          3  this before you leave.  Anything positive happening

          4  in CUNY, I like to let the world know, but positive

          5  community on the front page of a very popular

          6  magazine is President Jackson, and it says Medgar

          7  Evers College, a jewel in Brooklyn.  So give him a

          8  big hand clap.  We thank him for making the front

          9  page for that, and we thank this panel for your

         10  presentation.

         11                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Steve

         12  London, Barbara Bowen.

         13                 Please raise your right hands.  Do

         14  you swear the testimony that you about to give will

         15  be truthful and accurate?

         16                 MR. LONDON: I do.

         17                 MS. BOWEN: I do.

         18                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Please

         19  state your names for the record before your

         20  testimony.

         21                 MR. LONDON: Steve London.

         22                 MS. BOWEN: Good morning.  Good

         23  afternoon, actually. Should I begin?

         24                 Great.  Good afternoon.  Very nice to

         25  see you and thank you all very much for inviting us

                                                            66

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  and for holding the hearing.  I'm going to pick up

          3  on something that came up in the earlier discussion

          4  but I think that actually it was not mentioned

          5  enough, and that is investment in our students.  I

          6  want to say before beginning that Professor London

          7  and I represent the Professional Staff Congress

          8  which is the faculty and staff union at CUNY, as

          9  many of you know, and you've worked hard with us.

         10  We represent 20,000 faculty and academic staff at

         11  CUNY.

         12                 Something that came up in the earlier

         13  discussion was the need for support for students,

         14  but a lot of the discussion focused on other things,

         15  infrastructure, floods, public address systems, and

         16  in our view, all of those, of course, are very

         17  important, but something absolutely prior is support

         18  for the students so that tragedies and difficulties

         19  don't happen.  We can't prevent everything through

         20  that, but that is a critical method.

         21                 I'm going to speak first about the

         22  need in general, and then First Vice President

         23  London will talk a little bit more about what has

         24  happened, in our view, since last year's budget

         25  cycle when we presented a proposal, and also a view
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          2  about the four year colleges at CUNY because in the

          3  City we have concentrated on the two- year colleges.

          4                 Access for students to faculty

          5  counselors should be an essential part of CUNY's

          6  emergency response plan.  It should be right at the

          7  center of that.  As you know, for several years the

          8  PSC has focused on the need for additional faculty

          9  counselors and the community colleges.  The City

         10  Council has also addressed this issues.  As you

         11  know, under your leadership Council Member Barron,

         12  the Higher Education Committee held a hearing on

         13  this subject and elicited powerful testimony.  The

         14  PSC made a proposal last year. It discussed, in fact

         15  the year before, calling for a general increase in

         16  full- time faculty at the community colleges and

         17  with an emphasis on diversity, racial and ethnic

         18  diversity, and also the need for more faculty

         19  counselors.

         20                 The events of April 16th, 2007 at

         21  Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University

         22  moved us to change our proposal.  While the causes

         23  of the massacre at Virginia Tech are multiple and

         24  complex, one clear issue that emerged was the

         25  importance of psychological and mental health
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          2  counseling.  The long- standing shortage of faculty

          3  counselors at CUNY suddenly appeared more urgent.

          4                 What we are hoping to do is present a

          5  proposal  -- and this is something new  --  jointly

          6  with CUNY for additional faculty counselors, full-

          7  time faculty  --  some of the positions you heard

          8  about today, I believe, are not full- time positions

          9    -- for additional full- time, tenure- track

         10  positions for faculty counselors.  We're also going

         11  to work with CUNY to present a similar proposal at

         12  the level of the State for the four- year colleges.

         13  We don't have a written full proposal for us.  We'd

         14  actually like to discuss it in more detail with you,

         15  and this is something new.  We're trying to

         16  formulate a proposal so that labor and management

         17  come together with the same proposal.

         18                 Last spring, the PSC asked the City

         19  Council for an additional 51 full- time faculty

         20  counselors at the CUNY community colleges, and for a

         21  program to allow closer mentoring of individual

         22  students by full- time faculty and other academic

         23  disciplines.  A history of budget cuts from both the

         24  City and the State despite strong efforts from this

         25  Committee has left CUNY short of full- time faculty
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          2  in every area.  CUNY has 5,000 fewer full- time

          3  faculty now than it had in 1975, yet enrollment is

          4  at a 30- year high.  So we ask you to keep that in

          5  mind.  As we think about the gains, still we're

          6  5,000 short.

          7                 The shortage has been particularly

          8  acute among faculty counselors.  The International

          9  Association of Counseling Services has defined

         10  minimum standards for college counseling programs.

         11  These include various requirements about licensing

         12  and numbers, minimum ratios of students to faculty

         13  counselors.  This international body requires at a

         14  minimum at ration of one trained psychological

         15  counselor for every 1,000 to 1,500 students, and

         16  instead, they actually recommend one to 500.  At

         17  CUNY community colleges last spring, the ratio was

         18  one to 1,628.  That's just not an acceptable ratio.

         19  That ratio is not acceptable on any college campus.

         20  We believe it is especially unacceptable at CUNY.

         21  If any students in the country should be provided

         22  with adequate counseling faculty it is CUNY

         23  students.

         24                 Statistically among the lowest income

         25  college students in the nation, CUNY students face
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          2  pressures unknown at many academic institutions, and

          3  you spoke a little bit about this earlier.  Our

          4  students hold down jobs.  They support families.

          5  They contend everyday with racism and poverty.  They

          6  translate and mediate for parents, siblings,

          7  grandparents and community.  Among all CUNY

          8  students, 72 percent are people of color, 48 percent

          9  work at least 20 hours a week, 23 percent support

         10  children, 48 percent speak a native language other

         11  than English.  All of those factors contribute to

         12  what they have to contend with when they are sitting

         13  in your class.

         14                 We in the Professional Staff Congress

         15  who are privileged to teach and learn from these

         16  students are aware of their remarkable resilience.

         17  It is a tribute to their commitment to college

         18  education that they co- exist at CUNY as they do  --

         19    and a lot of you know that  --  and that they work

         20  largely in harmony and stability given those

         21  stressors.  Imagine how much more the students could

         22  achieve though if there were real investment in

         23  their success, and if they had the necessary

         24  support.

         25                 One of the surest routes to increased
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          2  retention, which is a real issue at CUNY, and of

          3  course it varies, as everything else in our culture

          4  does, according to lines of race and gender.  One of

          5  the surest routes to that and to improve graduation

          6  rates is access to one- on- one counseling with

          7  faculty.  A fully staffed psychological counseling

          8  service is an important part of maintaining the

          9  safety of any college campus.  In the light of the

         10  haunting events at Virginia Tech, CUNY's crisis of

         11  counseling faculty can no longer go unaddressed.

         12  This is an opportunity for the City Council to offer

         13  leadership and we appreciate that you're holding

         14  this and feel this is a real chance to do something

         15  significant.

         16                 The conversation nationwide in the

         17  aftermath of Virginia Tech, and now Delaware State,

         18  has focused on campus security, but few public

         19  universities have yet announced a program to

         20  increase psychological counseling.  With this

         21  initiative, New York City could demonstrate that

         22  while security is vital, it is not enough.  Some of

         23  the deepest needs are met only by counseling.

         24                 Last year, we proposed adding 51

         25  full- time faculty counselors to the existing total
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          2  of only 44 in the community colleges  --  that's all

          3  the colleges together  --  to serve the whole

          4  student population, and that was a cost of $4.3

          5  million.  We also asked for additional money, $2

          6  million, to allow a mentoring program where faculty

          7   --  not psychological counselors, but history

          8  professors, math professors, chemistry professors

          9  could mentor students so that we would keep close

         10  connection with them and help also to strengthen

         11  their success.  If funded, this initiative would

         12  offer a blueprint of the responsible way for the

         13  community to answer some of the toughest questions

         14  raised for every college by Virginia Tech.

         15                 A final critical element of the

         16  proposal we initially made  --  and Steve is going

         17  to talk about how we're expanding it  --  was that

         18  the number of counselors include a substantial

         19  number of people of color.  Diversity among the

         20  faculty and staff at CUNY is not just a goal, it is

         21  a statutory requirement, codified in the 1979 State

         22  Education Law, which is worth reading a little

         23  paragraph of.  It's an unusually eloquent piece of

         24  the law.

         25                 Only the strongest commitment to the
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          2  special needs of an urban constituency justifies the

          3  legislature's support of an independent and unique

          4  structure for the university.  Activities at the

          5  City University campuses must be undertaken in a

          6  spirit which recognizes and responds to the

          7  imperative need for affirmative action and a

          8  positive desire, which is more important than

          9  counseling. Many students feel more comfortable

         10  speaking to a counselor, if the counselor is a

         11  person of the same race, gender, sexual orientation

         12  or age.  If our proposal, as we develop it, is

         13  funded, CUNY colleges could be encouraged to draw on

         14  the outstanding pool of diverse men and women in the

         15  counseling field in order to increase the diversity

         16  among the faculty and staff.

         17                 On behalf of the 20,000 faculty and

         18  professional staff we represent, and of the 400,000

         19  students we teach, we submit that CUNY cannot wait

         20  to address its crisis, and it's a real crisis of

         21  counseling faculty.  The City University must be

         22  given the funds to support this need.  It's not

         23  enough just to put in speakers and phones and plans.

         24  The faculty and staff, the students, we don't

         25  anything about those plans.  We hear nothing about
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          2  them.  What we do know is that there are not enough

          3  counselors for our students, that there are huge

          4  lines for the students with counselors, that when

          5  I'm a faculty member and I have a problem, I can't

          6  find a faculty counselor or a trained counselor to

          7  talk to because they aren't.  They're just not

          8  there, or they are overworked.  They have 25

          9  students outside the door.  This is a real problem

         10  that we know. So we ask you then to look at this in

         11  light of the emergency that you're all seeking to

         12  address and to think about a primary investment

         13  being an investment in personnel and in the students

         14  and in their future.  It will resound not only in

         15  terms of safety, but in terms of their whole

         16  potential, and really that's what education is

         17  about.  It's about reaching that potential.

         18                 I'm going to turn it over now with

         19  your permission to Vice President London, our First

         20  Vice President.  He's going to talk about some of

         21  the research we've done in the last few months and

         22  also how this problem exists at the four- year

         23  colleges.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Before you speak,

         25  I just wanted to acknowledge Council Member Seabrook
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          2  who is a long- time CUNY supporter, and we thank him

          3  for coming.

          4                 MS. BOWEN: It's a pleasure to see

          5  you.  Welcome.

          6                 MR. LONDEN: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: I'm a union

          8  leader.

          9                 MS. BOWEN: All right.  I was going to

         10  say welcome to a union brother, and a union member.

         11  Thank you.

         12                 MR. LONDEN: Chair Barron, and other

         13  Council Members, good afternoon.  I want to tell you

         14  it's a pleasure to talk to you again about what

         15  really President Bowen has laid out.  It's a very

         16  important topic.  I want to begin with just a word

         17  or two about perspective and focus given the

         18  previous panel.  The best handled emergency is the

         19  one that never happens, and I think that's important

         20  for us to understand.  We see in this country that

         21  there has been a massive disinvestment in the

         22  public's fear and we are seeing the results of the

         23  vulnerabilities that have come of that, bridges

         24  collapsing, subways that are flooded.  We also have

         25  to keep in mind that there has been a disinvestment
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          2  in the human resources necessary to support our

          3  students, to support the people as well. So

          4  vulnerabilities also surface from that.

          5                 We know, and we can hear it everyday,

          6  and we heard it today, that the focus is on

          7  response, emergency response.  As a matter of fact,

          8  there is a new book out by Naomi Klein called

          9  Disaster Capitalism, and in that she argues that

         10  there is a whole industry and powerful interests

         11  that see disaster response as a whole area of gold

         12  mine in the public sector to respond to the

         13  vulnerabilities that are created by our

         14  disinvestment.  So while it's obviously important to

         15  do things that keep us safe, and we understand that,

         16  I do raise the question of focus.  While people,

         17  legislators, governors, pundits are willing to talk

         18  about and legitimate spending hundreds and hundreds

         19  of millions of dollars to respond to disasters, it's

         20  a much tougher sell to get people to focus on

         21  spending much less money that would prevent the

         22  emergencies in the first place.  I think that's what

         23  we here to talk about, that side of things.

         24                 We have done a fairly comprehensive

         25  survey of the counseling situation at CUNY, and we
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          2  did something last spring, and we've had the

          3  opportunity to update that and to expand it from the

          4  community colleges to the senior colleges as well.

          5  We look forward to having meetings with Vice

          6  Chancellor Moore.  We have a meeting coming next

          7  week when we're going to compare notes and talk

          8  about establishing a need and try to fashion a

          9  proposal that we can bring to you jointly.  So we

         10  look forward to that, but let me just give you some

         11  idea of the need.

         12                 President Bowen mentioned that we had

         13  44 counselors, but when we took a finer cut of that

         14  in the community colleges, we saw in fact there were

         15  32 licensed counselors in the community colleges.

         16  That's generally what mental health counselors

         17  associations that do these ratios look at, licensed

         18  counselors.  So when you look at that you see that

         19  we have a variation in the community colleges of

         20  between one counselor to 1,500 students stretching

         21  up to one licensed counselor to 5,000 students.  So

         22  it presents a different picture.

         23                 In the senior colleges, the situation

         24  is much worse. There in all 11 senior colleges plus

         25  the Graduate Center we have a total of 28 licensed

                                                            78

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  counselors.  What that means is the best ratio is

          3  one counselor to 2,200 students and that goes up to

          4  one counselor to 7,500 students.

          5                 The situation at the colleges in

          6  talking to counselors is really dire.  Let me give

          7  you one example that I think captures it.  If you

          8  were to call the Counseling Department at Baruch in

          9  June, as we did, you would get a message  --  this

         10  was done during business hours  --  which says call

         11  911 in the case of an emergency.  I think that's

         12  sobering to call a counseling department during

         13  business hours and get that message.

         14                 We know that there is very little

         15  backup.  If a student is seen by a licensed

         16  counselor in CUNY, the referral is generally to a

         17  public hospital.  Why?  In part because students

         18  don't have medical insurance.  If they go to the

         19  public hospital, they will get emergency care, but

         20  many of them need follow- up. Emergency care is not

         21  enough.  Medication, as President Jackson mentioned,

         22  whether or not a student is taking medication is

         23  something that needs to be followed up on.  There

         24  needs to be ongoing counseling.

         25                 We think that there is a very, very
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          2  serious need that  --  We've heard the CUNY

          3  administration put forward their perspective and

          4  they are doing the best they can do with limited

          5  resources.  We understand that they will put the

          6  best face on it. We think it's important to look at

          7  what the real need is, to lay that out, and we look

          8  forward to coming back to you with a very concrete

          9  proposal along those lines.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I want to thank

         11  both of you for your testimony, and also mention

         12  that Council Member Miguel Martinez is here.  I

         13  neglected to mention our Finance Analyst, Shadawn

         14  Smith, is also here, over there.  Everybody wave at

         15  her. John, I said wave, not clap.  Okay.  You have

         16  to learn how to follow instructions.  You

         17  understand?  Just in case.  We have to handle our

         18  business.

         19                 Counseling has been a pet peeve of

         20  mine for a long time.  I'm very disappointed on this

         21  Council's response to proposals and ideas around

         22  counseling.  I intend on making that a big issue in

         23  this upcoming budget year.  We're going to look at

         24  all kinds of proposals.  We're going to have a

         25  hearing itself on counseling itself because I think
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          2  it needs that kind of attention. The reason why I

          3  didn't raise it a whole lot in here, but I'm glad

          4  you did because it creates a balance in response,

          5  but I think Dr. Jackson hit on some of it on the

          6  prevention end, and as you said, the best way to

          7  deal with emergencies  --  Something about

          8  emergencies not happening.  I think that's an

          9  excellent quote, and much of the emergencies around

         10  violence wouldn't have to happen if there was an

         11  investment in getting those resources for students

         12  that they need especially in New York City.  This is

         13  a tough town to live in and it's a stressful place

         14  to live.  So we're definitely with you on the same

         15  page.  I'll be looking forward to meeting with you

         16  and looking at the proposal, and certainly, we're

         17  going to champion the cause of counseling in CUNY.

         18  That's something that I'm very, very concerned

         19  about.

         20                 Any questions from my colleagues?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: First of all,

         22  thank you.  I couldn't agree more.  We've been

         23  pushing on the City schools level for the same.  We

         24  have an initiative for the City- funded health

         25  clinics that exist and we're trying to go beyond
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          2  that.  So there's no question that this is

          3  desperately needed.

          4                 My questions is  --  and I remember

          5  the proposal last year.  To be honest with you, it

          6  needed work.  So my question is when you talk about

          7  full- time faculty, how is that different than  --

          8  I guess I'm used to the health clinic which is what

          9  I'm used to with the high school young people where

         10  it's a person where I was just at some Harlem high

         11  schools and a wonderful African American

         12  psychiatrist women split her time.  I think she's

         13  actually a doctor at Presbyterian.  So should would

         14  go to the clinics on a part- time basis obviously

         15  and there would be a certified social worker who

         16  would back her up so to speak, and that seemed to

         17  work for the principals and for the teachers equally

         18  needing this kind of support because some of the

         19  students you know act like students. So my question

         20  is faculty teaches and provides, can you explain

         21  that to me because I'm used to the clinic model?

         22                 MS. BOWEN: Yes, I'll start and if

         23  Steve wants to add anything.  Yes, we at CUNY, our

         24  psychological counselors are faculty.  They're

         25  tenured research faculty.  They work in the
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          2  discipline of counseling, which is an academic

          3  research discipline just like math, and the

          4  advantage of that is that they are scholars in that

          5  field.  They have to get tenure.  They have to do

          6  academic research and publish.  They're contributing

          7  to advancing the knowledge in that field just as

          8  other faculty are at the same time that they are

          9  carrying a case load and in some cases, teaching.

         10  Sometimes they teach courses on Introduction to

         11  College Life or on counseling itself.  So we have

         12  the model of the psychological counselors being

         13  members of the faculty, and that's a real strength

         14  at CUNY because it means that those individuals are

         15  not merely in a service capacity, but they help to

         16  shape curriculum, they help to shape the governance

         17  of the college just like any other faculty.

         18                 We also have some  --  We negotiated

         19  with the University in the last collective

         20  bargaining agreement for some psychological

         21  counselors  --  again, with the appropriate licenses

         22   --  to be in a non- faculty category  --  again, a

         23  permanent position.  So they could do 100 percent

         24  direct access in terms of counseling.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And they would
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          2  be in the clinics where there is an appropriate  --

          3  Or they would just be in a counseling office?

          4                 MS. BOWEN: We don't really have

          5  clinics.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: You don't have

          7  clinics. Okay.  So it's not like a high school then.

          8                 MS. BOWEN: No.  As Steve mentioned,

          9  some places only have an answering machine, and no,

         10  it's not like high schools. It's like an academic

         11  department.  You go in and those counselors --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Because in the

         13  private universities, which is my personal

         14  experience, we do have clinics. So we would go to

         15  the clinic.

         16                 MS. BOWEN: Right like psych services.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Correct.  On-

         18  site services for students at a clinic and that's

         19  where the psychological services were provided.  So

         20  what you're saying is that's not true at the

         21  campuses.

         22                 MR. LONDON: Well since most of our

         23  campuses are commuter campuses, there is a

         24  department within the campus student services area

         25  where students can go.  Also, it's important to
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          2  understand this is that the non- faculty counselors

          3  often do academic advising as well.  So when you

          4  look at the numbers of counselors, you have to be

          5  able to separate out those who are doing academic

          6  counseling, psychological counseling and a

          7  combination of both.

          8                 They will often be in the same area,

          9  and there are now some dorms at CUNY and I think you

         10  saw in Vice Chancellor Moore's testimony that there

         11  was a gaping hole in the dorms not having an on-

         12  site counselor.  According to his testimony, they've

         13  hired two dorms one psychological counselor.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So your

         15  numbers reflect the numbers who are academic, but

         16  not the numbers of the sort of bargained out

         17  licensed counselor, but not somebody who is an

         18  academic?

         19                 MR. LONDEN: No, the numbers I quoted

         20  are inclusive. They're all licensed counselors.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right.

         22                 MS. BOWEN:  --  Whether they are

         23  faculty or in a non- faculty position.

         24                 MR. LONDON: We have that broken out

         25  if you were  --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I'd be

          3  curious, not now, but when we're talking later on.

          4  Okay.  Thank you very much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 Once again, we are going to have a

          8  hearing.  The reason why I didn't drill them a whole

          9  lot on counseling is because we're going to do a

         10  hearing on counseling.  I think it's critical. It's

         11  something we've been concerned about, and Gale,

         12  maybe we should fight for some clinical areas in

         13  CUNY.  That might be another battle.

         14                 MS. BOWEN: Yes.  I think we should

         15  talk about that. I would just say that it's been a

         16  real strength for us to have our counselors as part

         17  of the faculty.  I think that's a very important

         18  thing that we have at CUNY because that makes them

         19  deeply integrated into the whole academic endeavor

         20  and it also attracts a different kind of person to

         21  the job because there's somebody who has a research

         22  agenda.  They're expanding the knowledge of their

         23  field at the same time that they're offering

         24  service, and that is a very good model for an

         25  academic setting.  So we should talk about all the
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          2  possibilities.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We'll talk more

          4  about it.  All right.  Well thank you very much.

          5                 MS. BOWEN: Thank you very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thanks everyone

          7  for coming up. This hearing is adjourned.

          8                 (Hearing concluded at 3:20 p.m.)
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